HOLD-TIME EFFECTS IN HIGH-TEMPERATURE LOW-CYCLE FATIGUE

A LITERATURE SURVEY AND INTERPRETIVE REPORT

> Prepared for The Metal Properties Council by E. Krempl and B. M. Wundt

STP 489

MAMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS

HOLD-TIME EFFECTS IN HIGH-TEMPERATURE LOW-CYCLE FATIGUE

A LITERATURE SURVEY AND INTERPRETIVE REPORT

> Prepared for The Metal Properties Council by E. Krempl and B. M. Wundt

ASTM SPECIAL TECHNICAL PUBLICATION 489

List price \$4.75

04-489000-30



AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS 1916 Race Street, Philadelphia, Pa. 19103

[©] BY AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR TESTING AND MATERIALS 1971 Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 71-152132

NOTE

The Society is not responsible, as a body, for the statements and opinions advanced in this publication.

> Printed in Alpha, New Jersey September 1971

FOREWORD

The Metal Properties Council Subcommittee on Fatigue sponsored preparation by B. M. Wundt of an extensive Bibliography on Low-Cycle Fatigue. Published by ASTM in 1968 as their Special Technical Publication No. 449, that survey listed over 800 references for the years 1957 through 1967.

Encouraged by a larger-than-anticipated demand for that Bibliography, the Subcommittee is now promoting the preparation and publication of surveys telling the general content of the literature pertaining to each of several major factors affecting low-cycle [high strain] fatigue behavior. The present report surveys the influence of hold time on low-cycle fatigue failure at constant temperature. It covers most of the papers listed under Subject 3 of the 1968 Bibliography, together with some more-recent papers.

Acknowledgements

The helpful comments of the members of MPC Subcommittee 3, who reviewed the draft of this report, are gratefully acknowledged:

THE METAL PROPERTIES COUNCIL Subcommittee 3 - Fatigue

Curran, R. M. (Chairman) (General Electric Company) Baker, C. (Reynolds Metals Co.) Berry, W. R. (Westinghouse Electric Corp.) Bodzin, J. J. (Detroit Edison Co.) Bradbury, T.G. (Steel Company of Canada) Epstein, S. G. (The Aluminum Association) Esztergar, E. P. (Gulf General Atomics) Fox, H. S. (Tennessee Valley Authority) Ives, K. D. (U.S. Steel Corporation) Kenig, M. J. (Drexel Institute of Technology) Lawton, C. E. (Combustion Engineering Inc.) Leven, M. M. (Westinghouse Research Labs.) Lemcoe, M. M. (Battelle Memorial Institute) Melilii, A. S. (General Electric Company) Murphy, J. J. (M. W. Kellogg Co.) Nordmark, G. E. (Aluminum Company of America) Smith, G. V. (Consulting Engineer) Sutherland, J. G. (Aluminium Laboratories Ltd.) Timo. D. P. (General Electric Co.) Traexler, J. F. (Westinghouse Electric Corp.) Tyler, C. M. Jr., (Olin Mathieson Chemical Corp.) Ullinger, R. L. (American Electric Power Service Corp.) Weldon, R. P. (Foster Wheeler Corp.) Wundt, B. M. (Consultant to Subcommittee) Zwilsky, K. M. (Atomic Energy Commission)

We especially express our appreciation to the organizations who have permitted us to reproduce original illustrations. These are listed in the references.

HOLD-TIME EFFECTS IN HIGH-TEMPERATURE LOW-CYCLE FATIGUE A LITERATURE SURVEY AND INTERPRETIVE REPORT

E. Krempl¹ and B. M. Wundt²

ABSTRACT

A literature survey was made of the effect of hold time on the deformation and fracture behavior during lowcycle fatigue loading at elevated temperature. The need for such investigations is traced back to the operational conditions of power generation, chemical processing and flight propulsion plants.

Hold time is shown to have a significant influence on the cyclic strain hardening (softening) behavior and on cycles to failure. The effect depends on the nature of the surrounding atmosphere. Stress analysis and failure criteria have to be modified to account for these time dependent effects. The presently available design approaches are reviewed and recommendations for future research are given.

KEY WORDS: Fatigue (materials), high temperature tests, fractures (materials), life (durability), cyclic loads, stress cycle, plastic deformation, thermal stress, strains, crack propagation, damage, design, stress relaxation, creep properties, austenitic stainless steels, alloy steels, review, evaluation.

¹Associate Professor, Mechanics Division, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, Troy, New York. ²Consultant, Schenectady, New York.

NOMENCLATURE

 $\Delta \epsilon_{pr}$ = plastic strain due to stress relaxation [in/in]

 $\Delta \epsilon_p$ = plastic strain range [in/in]

 $\Delta \epsilon_{t}$ = total strain range [in/in]

 ϵ_{max} = maximum strain [in/in]

 ϵ_{\min} = minimum strain [in/in]

 $\Delta \epsilon_c$ = creep strain accumulated during hold time in stress control [in/in]

 $\dot{\epsilon}_{s}$ = secondary creep rate [1/time]

 $\Delta \sigma$ = stress range [psi]

 $\sigma_{\rm r}$ = stress at the end of the hold time [psi]

 $\Delta \sigma_{\rm r}$ = total stress relaxed during hold time [psi]

 σ_{max} = maximum tensile stress [psi]

 σ_{\min} = minimum tensile stress [psi]

 $\sigma_{\rm u}$ = ultimate tensile strength [psi]

E = modulus of elasticity [psi]

 N_i = number of cycles to crack initiation

 N_f = number of cycles to failure

 $a, \beta = \text{constant}$

 $C, C_1, C_2, A = constants$ with appropriate dimensions

 $k, k_1 = constant$ with appropriate dimensions

 $t_f = time to failure$

 $t_{\rm H}$ = hold time

 ν = frequency of testing [cycles/unit time]

T = time for one cycle = $1/\nu$

D = tensile ductility =
$$ln \frac{100}{100-RA}$$

RA = reduction in area [percent]

 t_r = time to rupture failure in a creep test [h]

۷

CONTENTS

Foreword	iii
Abstract	iv
Nomenclature	v
Introduction	1
Scope of this Literature Sruvey	3
The Uniaxial Deformation and Fracture Behavior of Engineering Materials	3
Low-Cycle Fatigue with Hold Time	3
Hold Time with Relaxation	4
Hold Time with Creep	13
Hold Time Mixed	15
Predicting Cycle-Reducing Hold-Time Effect	16
Frequency Approach	16
Creep Fatigue Interaction Approach	18
Consideration of Hold-Time Effect in Design	20
Summary	25
Future Work	25
References	27

STP489-EB/Sept.1971

Introduction

The problem of elevated temperature low-cycle fatigue deformation and fracture behavior is of great importance to the design of power plants, petroleum and chemical processing factories, and other machinery which operates at elevated temperature. Repeated cyclic plastic deformation caused by thermal stresses at discontinuities such as may occur during start-ups may cause early cracking with all the undesirable consequences. It is therefore of economic interest to study the material deformation and fracture behavior under simulated service conditions.

Although actual low-cycle fatigue fracture is caused by thermal stresses due to the changing temperature, the behavior of materials is customarily investigated at constant temperature under mechanical loading. As test temperature, the maximum operating temperature or even higher ones are selected. It is assumed that in such a way the limiting minimum life can be established.

The objective of any laboratory investigation on the deformation and fracture behavior of materials at loads where this behavior is strongly time dependent, is to establish a failure criterion and a knowledge of the stresses (strains) as they develop and finally lead to failure. Both inputs are needed in reliability analysis to calculate the actual stresses and determine whether these stresses are in the safe range. If time-dependent behavior is important, the actual service conditions must be closely simulated so that important influences are not excluded.

Previously, most of the evaluation of materials for low-cycle fatigue life has been done at uninterrupted cycling. Correlation with actual service experience using this data was not encouraging. Therefore, a closer simulation of the actual service condition was made by introducing hold times. These hold times were shown to have a cycle-reducing effect at elevated temperature when compared with uninterrupted cycling under the same conditions. Figure 1 illustrates what is meant by hold time. Generally, this term refers to a stop in the increase in stress (or strain), with a following constant stress (or strain) for a certain period of time. This time is referred to as hold time or dwell time. After the end of the hold time, cycling continues and the pattern will be repeated during each cycle as shown in Figure 1.

This type of laboratory cycle is considered an approximation of the operation of some machinery at elevated temperatures. Adjustment of the load of steam turbines according to the demand for electricity requires sometimes a change in the steam inlet temperature which in turn causes temperature transients in shells and rotors. In addition, other transients such as cold starts and hot starts occur during the lifetime of a turbine and other plants, [48, 49].¹

Prior to 1964 the results of elevated temperature, strain controlled low-cycle fatigue tests without hold time were considered to be relevant for design [5, 42]. Later on it was pointed out [17, 29] that simple uninterrupted low-cycle fatigue is seldom limiting in design of pressure vessels operating at elevated temperatures.

¹The italic numbers in brackets refer to the list of references at the end of this report.

Edmunds, [17] stated that for hot pressure vessels the influence of "repeated creep relaxation" is an important consideration. "The argument is relevant to a plant which is maintained on load at high temperatures for periods reckoned in hours or even days, and in particular it refers to small plastic zones in an essentially elastic system, such as found in the vicinity of the inlet belt of a steam turbine. Here the conditions of high secondary stresses, stress concentration, high temperatures, and large temperature gradients all occur together, so that it is highly likely that the worst position will suffer a combination of circumstances which includes plastic yielding in compression during warm-up period, strain cycling of an amplitude about equal to (or somewhat above) yield and creep relaxation of the peak stresses during the period when the plant is held on load". He then continues to show that straincontrolled tests with hold-time yield the proper material information for design.



FIG. 1-Schematic Diagrams Comparing Uninterrupted Cycling and Cycling with Hold Time.

Timo and Sarney [48] and Timo [49] favor the use of data obtained in a laboratory-type cycle with hold-time, but point out that the actual conditions in components are not always represented by the strain-controlled laboratory data with hold-time in the tension part of the cycle. They differentiate between

1) "A very severe cycle (fast temperature change rate and large temperature change) which produces a

1

TABLE 1–Typical Boiler/Turbine Operating Cycle History 20 Year Basis

Unit Age			
0-7 Years	7-14 Years	14-20 Years	Total
25	30	45	100
25	30	45	100
20	190	490	500
	640	1340	2000
300	900	1800	3000
2000	6000	12000	20000
	0-7 Years 25 25 25 20 20 	Unit / 0-7 Years 7-14 Years	Unit Age 0-7 Years 7-14 Years 14-20 Years

After Hanzalek and Ipsen [26].

high strain range cycling (e.g., strain range several times the yield strain range)

- A moderately severe cycle which produces an intermediate strain range (e.g., strain slightly greater than the yield strain range)
- 3) A *mild cycle* which produces only a small strain range (e.g., strain range much lower than the yield strain range)" (Timo [49])

Figure 2, after Timo [49], depicts schematically the stresses and strains induced by these cycles. It is pointed



FIG. 2–Typical Stress and Strain Cycles for Severe, Intermediate, and Mild Load Changes in Steam Turbine Rotors. From Timo, [49]

out that for each of these cycles different design calculations are required which will be discussed later in this survey.

In all the references cited so far the use of strain-controlled data was favored. However, another school of thought proposes the use of load (stress) controlled data in design. Tilly [47] points out that rotor discs of aircraft gas turbines are "subjected to repetitions of tensile stress for hold-times up to several hours, together with peak stress for short times, giving rise to a combined creep and fatigue problem". Dawson [13] shows that "creep processes that occur during the steady running of the (steam) turbines are widely simulated by introducing constantstrain dwell periods, but there may be cases where a constant-stress dwell period would be a closer representation". One example is given for this case (Fig. 5 [13], not reproduced). It consists of a thin member attached to a rather thick channel which will restrain the thin member upon temperature changes.

So far nothing has been said about the number of holdtime events during the projected lifetime of power plants. While it is generally agreed that the events involving cyclic plastic deformation occur from 100 to less than 10,000 times during the lifetime of a power plant, specific numbers are rarely given in publications. One exception is a paper by Hanzalek and Ipsen, [26], from which Table 1 has been taken.

In the foregoing, the reasons for the interest in hold time during low-cycle fatigue were traced to the operation of power plants and gas turbines. The common features may be described as follows.

A start-up or load change may lead to thermal stresses of such magnitude that the elastic limit of the material is exceeded locally. A period at rated conditions follows. During this period, relaxation and/or creep can take place in the regions previously deformed plastically. After that period at rated conditions, the apparatus is shut down or the load is reduced and then the whole cycle (start-up, rated conditions, shut-down) repeats itself. It is in the nature of the operation of the machinery of interest that not more than about 10,000 cycles, in many cases less than 1000 cycles, are experienced in the projected lifetime of the equipment.

Since hold times are simulations of actual service cycles and since cycles-to-failure reductions were experienced with hold times under constant strain, the behavior under hold-time conditions can become limiting. It is therefore of considerable practical interest to study the behavior of actual materials under these conditions. The deformation and fracture behavior should be known. Both are, of course, necessary for appropriate fracture control plans. The first one is of interest for the determination of the time-dependent stresses or strains of actual structures, the second one for the formulation of fracture criteria.

SCOPE OF THIS LITERATURE SURVEY

In this survey the influence of hold time on the lowcycle fatigue failure at constant temperature will be discussed.

The influence of creep and fatigue interaction of which hold-time effects are a part was recently considered by Ellison [19]. In that study the high-cycle creep and fatigue interaction is emphasized.

Related but separate effects such as influence of frequency and rate of straining on fatigue failure will be reviewed in separate reports. However, it is felt that a short discussion of their inter-relation is useful here for the understanding of hold-time and frequency effects.

At room temperature at stress levels of engineering interest in structural materials, hold-time and frequency effects on fatigue life are believed to be insignificant. If such an influence exists it is so small that it is easily masked by the scatter of the results. If one were to introduce hold time at room temperature at stress levels of engineering interest, no significant cycle-reducing effect would be observed. Any creep or relaxation processes during the dwell time would be transient in nature and would shortly reach an asymptotic value [36]. It appears therefore that a necessary condition for the existence of the cycle-reducing hold-time effect is the occurrence of significant creep or relaxation during the hold-time.

At room temperature, empirical formulas were developed for the prediction of fatigue life from significant test variables. The Coffin-Manson Law is well known; e.g., [8, 38].

It turns out that these prediction techniques are unconservative at elevated temperature even for the case of continuous cycling. It is therefore necessary to consider time-dependent quantities (rate of strain, frequency, creep) in these formulas, [6, 39, 44].

A variation in the frequency of strain cycling from 10⁻³ to 1Hz causes an increase in fatigue life from 50 to 5000 cycles at a total strain range of $\Delta \epsilon_t = 0.009$ for L-605 alloy at 1180 F, (Fig. 3). This result shows one



FIG. 3-The Influence of Change of Cyclic Frequency on the High-Strain Fatigue Life of L605 Cobalt Base Alloy at 1180 F. Solid line represents predicted life at $\Delta \epsilon_t = 0.009$, Data of Manson et al., [39].

general trend of the data: The lower the frequency (rate of straining) the fewer the cycles-to-fracture. The timeto-fracture may or may not be influenced. No such strong influence of frequency is present at room temperature. It is because of these elevated-temperature material properties that the room-temperature prediction methods have to be modified at elevated temperature.

Basically the introduction of hold time has the overall effect of reducing the frequency and therefore a reduction in cycles-to-failure should be expected. At the same time the total time-to-failure may increase. There are, however, definite periods of creep or relaxation during the hold-time which are not present in uninterrupted cycling tests. From this point of view, hold-time tests are a combination of cycling and of creep or relaxation tests. Therefore, a separate look at this problem is warranted.

In the following, the material behavior under conditions of hold time will be reviewed for a uniaxial state of stress. Methods of predicting the hold-time effect as well as design applications will be discussed.

THE UNIAXIAL DEFORMATION AND FRACTURE BEHAVIOR OF ENGINEERING MATERIALS. Low-Cycle Fatigue with Hold Time

Basically, the hold time can be introduced at any point of the cycle. Its effect on the fatigue cycles will depend on the position, the length of the hold time, the material, and the temperature. In the majority of the tests, the hold time is introduced during the tensile part of the cycle. A few investigations use hold times in compression or at some other part of the cycle. In the following, if no mention is made of the location of the hold time, it has been introduced at the maximum tensile position of the cycle.

The various possibilities of conducting the hold-time test are listed below. It is possible to control either stress or displacement (strain) during the test. If the former is adopted, creep will occur during hold time; while relaxation is going to take place if strain is the controlled variable.

1. Hold Time with Relaxation. The test is under displacement control all the time and stress relaxation occurs during hold time, see Fig. 4.

Since the displacement (strain) limits are fixed, the stresses and the plastic strain will vary from cycle to cycle, as will be shown later on. Also the shape of the relaxation curve will depend on the number of cycles. Therefore the amount of stress relaxation $\Delta \sigma_{r}$ per cycle depends on the number of cycles.

The material is called cyclic strain hardening if the stress range $\Delta \sigma$ increases with cycles; it is called cyclic strain softening if the stress range is decreasing with cycles^{*}. Compared to uninterrupted cycling, an increase in the plastic strain range is observed for hold-time tests. If it is assumed that unloading is elastic with elastic modulus E, the in-

*The increase or decrease in stress range may stop after a certain number of cycles, the material is then said to be in its cyclic steady state or shakedown condition. This shakedown condition may never be reached at elevated temperature.

crease in plastic strain range $\Delta \epsilon_{pr}$ due to relaxation can be calculated by

$$\Delta \epsilon_{\rm pr} = \frac{\Delta \sigma_{\rm r}}{\rm E} \,. \tag{1}$$

Due to the nature of the control forced on the specimen (constant displacement) it will not increase its length beyond the displacement range permitted by

HOLD TIME WITH RELAXATION



FIG. 4–Schematic Diagram Showing Stress and Strain Variation during Hold Time with Relaxation Cycling (Strain Control)

the control. The fatigue fracture will then propagate without any visible plastic deformation and reduction in area. Only the final rupture area will show some reduction in area.

2. Hold Time with Creep. The test is under load control all the time and creep will take place during hold time, see Fig. 5.

In this case constant stress limits are forced on the specimen and during hold time the specimen is free to elongate, the specimen creeps by the amount $\Delta \epsilon_c$ during each hold time. The amount of creep strain $\Delta \epsilon_c$ per cycle will vary from cycle to cycle and will generally increase as the number of cycles increase. No definition of cyclic strain hardening or softening has been given in this case. The increase in total strain range and plastic strain range per cycle cannot be easily calculated in this case. Due to the nature of the control, the specimen will continuously elongate and finally fracture with a reduction in area and visible plastic deformation.

3. Hold Time, Mixed. Various possibilities exist of transfer of control from load to displacement at the start of the hold time; e.g., displacement control during cycling, load control during hold time and vice versa. The deformation and fracture behavior during this type of control is complicated and not yet well understood. The method of control will be explained when the individual paper is reviewed.

Hold Time with Relaxation.

One of the first investigations of the effect of hold time on fatigue life seems to have been conducted by Swindeman [45], on Inconel. Specifically, he investigated the influence of hold time (0.5 to 30 min) at 1500 F on the exponent and the constant in Coffin's equation

$$\Delta \epsilon_{\rm p} N_{\rm f}^{a} = {\rm C}.$$
 (2)

The exponent a increased with hold time from (0.79 to 0.89), and C decreased from 0.82 to 0.75. The reported

HOLD TIME WITH CREEP



FIG. 5-Schematic Diagram Showing Stress and Strain Variation during Hold Time with Creep Cycling (Load Control)

hysteresis loops [Appendix, Fig. A4, not reproduced] indicate that the displacement was not kept constant as it should have been. Therefore, some complicated interactions between relaxation and partial increase in displacement existed which cloud some of the results.

In a paper presented at the First International Conference on Creep, C. D. Walker [52] conducted tests with a hold time at 510 C. Most of the tests were run with a hold time of an average of 12 hrs (8 h and 16 h, due to the 8 hour working day). A modified Scotch yoke testing machine used by Baldwin et al., [1] was employed to compare the behavior of four different steels: Cast 1% Mo, 1% Mo-1% Cr, 12% Cr - 0.5% Mo, and Type 316 SS with the addition of Co. The tests were such that the fatigue life did not exceed 300 cycles, with most of the tests lasting around 100 cycles. He concluded that the 1% Cr - 1% Mo was the best and Type 316 was the poorest material investigated. He also plotted the hold time versus number of cycles-to-failure as shown in Fig. 6. It can be seen that the increase in hold time reduces the fatigue cycles progressively without indication of an asymptotic limit. Also it should be noted that the total strain range is rather high (2% and 3.4%).

Edmunds and White, [18] used four-point bending to evaluate a 2-1/4 Cr - 1 Mo steel at ambient temperature and at 600 C. (The motivation for this investigation was that the usual high-strain fatigue formula [Eq. (2)] did not satisfactorily predict the occurrence of cracking in steam turbines.) The specimen had a rectangular cross section 1.75 in. by 0.2 in. and a stress biaxiality ratio of 0.4. The authors reason that the hold-time effect will be more pronounced at lower strains than at higher strains and the results confirm their reasoning. The ratio between cycles-to-failure with 300 min hold time and cycles-to-failure with no hold time was found to be 1/(4.2) at $\Delta \epsilon_t = 0.6\%$ and roughly 1/(2.2) at $\Delta \epsilon_t = 2\%$. The reduction of cycles-to-failure becomes more severe as the strain range decreases. At the same time, total testing time increases. This observation is very important for design and it will be seen that it is confirmed by other investigations. Creep-rupture and relaxation data obtained from separate investigations for the 2-1/4 Cr - Mo material are also given. The authors attempted to explore the effect of the position of the hold time in the cycle. Two specimens were tested and the 30 min hold time was introduced at approximately zero surface stress; practically no reduction in cycles-to-failure compared to continuous cycling was observed.

It was found that the environment had a considerable influence on the fatigue life. If argon was admitted to the furnace, the fatigue life improved considerably in continuous cycling. It is likely that the same effect will be observed in tests with hold time. Metallographic observations on only two specimens showed initial intergranular cracking with a transition to a transgranular mode as the cracks spread.

Coles and Skinner [9] report on the effect of hold periods and frequency on the low-cycle fatigue life. The authors point out that the Coffin relationship overestimates the endurance, and they propose to correlate the data by

$$v^k t_s = \text{const.}$$
 (3)

For a given strain range and various test frequencies ν , the following extreme situations are distinguished by the authors:

 Pure fatigue. It is said that fatigue is the controlling mechanism if the product v . t = const = N for every frequency v. If this is the case k = 1.



FIG. 6-The Influence of Hold Time on Cyclic Life of Some Steam Turbine Materials at 950 F.

2) Creep. If creep processes are controlling then the time-to-failure is independent of the frequency ν . The product $\nu^k t$ has to be independent of ν and therefore a k = 0 is required.

This method is used to analyze their tests on a Cr - Mo - V steel at 565 C. In their interpretation, hold time is considered to be frequency reducing and their analysis proceeds accordingly. They conclude that for lives below 11,000 minutes hold times contribute only in a "frequency effect" manner (at 2.3% $\Delta \epsilon_t$), and fatigue is controlling. Creep effects appear only at longer test durations. These creep effects are evidenced by a knee in the $\log \nu - \log t$ plot of Fig. 7. Another characteristic associated with the knee is the shift from transgranular to intergranular fracture. The former is associated with fatigue fracture, the latter with creep fracture. The knees are also shown for strain ranges $\Delta \epsilon_t = 0.96\%$ and 7.4% in Fig. 7. No mention is made of the nature of the cracks at these strain ranges.

However, the knee is not very pronounced. The conclusions reached by Coles and Skinner are discussed by Barnes and Tilly, [2], who point out that the behavior of materials is more complex than Coles and Skinner tend to indicate in their interpretation. Barnes and Tilly quote their own work on the fatigue behavior of Nimonic 90 to show that a shift from transcrystalline to intercrystalline fracture at the knee is not necessarily due to creep damage. Their experience indicates that intercrystalline fracture can occur in pure fatigue tests with a decrease in applied frequency and/or increase in temperature and mean stress. Their interpretation is apparently than trans- and intercrystalline fracture can occur in creep and fatigue.

At a recent Conference on Thermal and High-Strain Fatigue in England in 1967, a number of papers investigated the influence of hold time on ferritic and austenitic steels for use in power plants. The tests were almost exclusively generated in a Forrest-Penfold type reversed bending machine, [22].

Coles et al [11] investigated the influences of strain range, frequency of strain cycling, length of dwell periods and of test temperature on the fatigue life of ferritic steels of the Cr - Mo - V and 2-1/4 Cr - 1 Mo variety up to 600 C. The majority of tests were run at 550 C.

To give an impression of the variety of materials investigated, Fig. 8 has been reproduced from the paper of Coles, et al. A rather uniform influence of hold time on cycles-to-failure is seen. The disadvantage of this type of plotting is that zero hold times cannot be accommodated. This property of the plot together with the fact that hold-time effect will increase with longer hold time caused those authors to introduce an exponential horizontal scale, Fig. 9. They state that this method of plotting has the disadvantage of a decrease in sensitivity as hold time increases. They discuss results obtained from extrapolation of the data. For the Cr - Mo - V material, an increase in hold time from 10 min. to 104 min. (1 week) would reduce the life from 300 to about 35



FIG. 7–Relationship between Frequency and Time-to-Failure for Tests with Hold Time on a Cr-Mo-V Rotor Steel at 565 C.

cycles ($\Delta \epsilon_t = 2\%$, 565 C, Material A-1). This number is indeed low in light of our Table 1 where a possibility is indicated of 100 cold starts with hold times of more than a week between the starts in the lifetime of a turbine. It is possible that a strain range of $\Delta \epsilon_t = 2\%$ can be reached during a cold start. Coles, et al. then indicate that more long-time tests are required before the extrapolation can be used with confidence.

The combined influence of frequency and hold time on the cycles-to-failure is depicted in Fig. 10. Two factors are evident from this graph:

- 1) The effect of frequency and hold time on cyclesto-failure is much less pronounced at high strain ranges than at low strain ranges.
- 2) At long dwell periods, the effect of frequency is small.

The observation 1) conforms the findings by Edmunds and White, [18].

Some tests conducted in vacuum resulted in longer cycles-to-failure than in air (cycle increase by about a factor 2). The authors conclude that oxidation, which is present when the tests are run in air, contributes to the cause of cracking.

The lives so far reported refer to the failure of the tests specimen. An attempt was made to determine crack initiation in the specimens. Since no marked changes in bending moment or strain range were coincident with crack initiation, the only reliable technique was to interrupt the test at various stages, remove the oxide layer, and examine the surface by a 20x microscope. Crack initiation was then defined by the occurrence of cracks 0.015 in. long. The following ratios N_i (initiation): N_f (failure) were found at 550 C (cast Cr - Mo - V, 30 min dwell, 0.5 cpm) : N_i/N_f = 0.17 for $\Delta \epsilon_t = 1.44\%$, and N_i/N_f = 0.43 for $\Delta \epsilon_t = 0.52\%$.



FIG. 8-Influence of Dwell Time on the Fatigue Life of Various Cr-Mo-V Steels at the Indicated Temperatures.

Edmunds and White indicate that the data are typical; low ratios of N_i/N_f at high strain ranges, and high ratios at low strain ranges.

The writers concur with the conclusion that crack initiation should receive greater attention in the future.

Hill [27], investigated at 550 C two forged 1% Cr - Mo - V steels with significantly different creeprupture properties. Whereas no difference was observed for continuous cycling, the introduction of dwell periods discriminated between the two steels. Figure 11 shows his results. The material B behaves in a brittle manner in creep-rupture and exhibits shorter cycles-to-failure in fatigue tests with hold time than does steel A. Therefore a definite correlation between the behavior in a creeprupture test and in a fatigue test with relaxation is observed. (Material A and B are slightly different in their



Coles, et al., [11].

FIG. 9-Influence of Dwell Time. (Exponential scale is used on the abscissa).



FIG. 10-Interaction of Frequency and Hold Time for Forged 1 Cr-Mo-V Steel at 565 C.



FIG. 11–Influence of Dwell Time on Cycles-to-Failure for the Two Materials Characterized by the Creep Rupture Data Shown,

chemistry and underwent a different heat treatment.)

The cracks propagated in a transgranular manner for continuous cycling. In dwell tests, intergranular-oxidation effects were found first, the cracks became increasingly transgranular as their depth increased, and finally ended up in an intergranular void-type growth. The fracture mode in creep-rupture tests of equal duration was mostly shear deformation and no evidence of intergranular fracture was observed. Only with test durations of 2000 h and longer was intergranular cracking found to take place.

In the writers' opinion, this difference in the cracking behavior is mostly due to the geometric constraints imposed on the specimens. Displacement control which limits the overall deformation is employed in the cycling tests, no limit is imposed on the length of the specimen in the creep test. Therefore, necking and shear deformation can occur in the latter but not in the former test. The elongation at fracture usually reduces with test duration in a creep test, so that the conditions of the two types of tests approach each other as the testing time increases.

Detailed informatin on the cracking behavior on the tension and compression side of the specimen (tension is the side of the bar that is held in tension during holdtime) is given and the influence of grain boundary sliding is discussed in detail.

Dawson et al., [14] investigated three types of austenitic steels (Type 316 SS, Esshete 1250, and A286) at 600 C. The influence of hold time on cycles-tofailure of Type 316 steel is shown in Fig. 12. The usual trend which is familiar by now is evident. However, one important point is emphasized by Fig. 12; the hold-time effect is more pronounced for push-pull tests than for bending tests, and the lines are steeper for the former than for the latter case.

Dawson, et al. explain the difference in the results of bend and the push-pull tests by a different amount of elastic follow-up during the dwell period. The extensometer was attached to the shoulder of the specimen in the push-pull tests, thereby allowing an elastic follow-up during hold time. Although the explanation is plausible, the question remains what would have been the hold-time effect without follow-up. Since the cycle reduction was enhanced by the presumed reduced follow-up of the pushpull test, it is not unreasonable to assume that further reductions would have been experienced for zero elastic follow-up. The writers concur with the authors' suggestion that future dwell tests should use push-pull tests and *constant* strain during hold time.

For Type 316 SS. crack initiation was reported to have occured (0.030 in. long crack) at around 50 to 60 percent of the fatigue life. At high strain ranges, the N_i/N_f ratios became very small. 0.1 to 0.2, as shown in Fig. 16 (not reproduced) of their paper.

A comparison of the three steels on the basis of their performance in continuous cycling and tests with a dwell time of 30 min, shows that the relative ranking of the materials is different in the two types of tests. While the results scatter, thus making a conclusion difficult, it appears that the highest ranking steel in continuous cycling is A286, followed by Esshete 1250, and Type 316 SS. For a 30 min dwell period the order (highest rank first) is Type 316 SS, Esshete 1250, and A286 (for N_f>2000, A286 is superior to 316 SS and Esshete 1250, very few points). The authors indicate a correlation with creep-rupture properties; for details see Figures 20 and 21 of Dawson et al. [14]. The intorduction of the 30 min dwell period reduced the life at $\Delta \epsilon_t = 1\%$ from 2000 cycles at no hold-time, to roughly 500 cycles.

Cracking is reported to shift from a transcrystalline mode in continuous cycling to an intercrystalline mode upon the introduction of dwell times of 10 min or longer. Triple-point cracks were observed in push-pull tests and detailed discussion on the role of triple-point cracks in crack propagation is presented.

The use of push-pull tests permits the measurement of the output variable, the stress. The stress range changes considerably with cycles. An example is given in Fig. 13. The variation in the peak stress of Type 316 SS for a strain range $\Delta \epsilon_t = 3.0\%$ is shown for three different hold times. The introduction of hold-time can



FIG. 12-Effect of Dwell Time on Endurance for Type 316 Steel. (A comparison is made between the hold-time effect in push-pull and in bending at 600 C.)



FIG. 13 – Variation in Peak Tensile Stress with Number of Cycles during Tests with a Dwell Time. Total strain range $\Delta \epsilon_t = \pm 1.5\%$, 600 C, Type 316 Stainless Steel.



FIG. 14-Variation in Total Relaxed Stress during a Test with Dwell Time.

be seen to change the value of the resulting peak stress. The general pattern of the variation is similar for all hold times. Also the amount of stress relaxation per cycle (the difference between the stress at the beginning and at the end of the hold-time, $\Delta \sigma_r$ in Fig. 4) is changing as a function of cycles as shown in Fig. 14. In this case, $\Delta \sigma_r$ increases with the number of applied cycles.



FIG. 15–Influence of Temperature on the Cyclic Endurance of C-1/2Mo Steel at Various Strain Amplitudes.

Coles and Chitty, [10] set out to investigate the lowcycle fatigue strength of a C – Mo and a 2Cr-Mo-V steel as a function of temperature. The tensile properties of the C – Mo material show a trough in tensile ductibility at 350 C (strain aging) and therefore this material is of special interest. Consequently, the cycles-to-failure at a given strain range shows a minimum at this temperature and the life at 350 C is lower than that at 550 C, Fig. 15. The "natural order" is restored at both temperatures when a hold time is introduced (Fig. 16). The



FIG. 16–Influence of Dwell Time on the Strain Cycling Resistance of C-½ Mo Steel at 350 and 550 C.

550 C hold time data exhibit clearly the minimum life in the hold-time tests.

Coles and Chitty conclude that for materials with a ductility trough such as the C – Mo steel, it may be necessary to simulate the actual thermal cycle to obtain realistic design data.

Krempl and Walker, [30] heat-treated a Cr - Mo - V



FIG. 17-Comparison of the Hold-Time Effect as Reported by Various Investigators.

forging to obtain a high and a low creep-rupture ductility. Subsequent push-pull tests with accurate strain control, using hold-times of 1, 10 and 60 minutes at 1000 F for $\Delta \epsilon_t = 0.5\%$ and 1.0%, showed the following results.

The hold-time effect was higher for the condition of low than for the condition of high creep-rupture ductility. In each case the highest cycle reduction was observed at the low strain range of 0.5%. A comparison between the results of this investigation and results discussed previously, is given in Fig. 17. The data fall within a reasonable scatterband; however, the downward bend of the curves for the low-ductility (LD) material and Hill's data [27] are somewhat disturbing. An extrapolation to longer hold times is uncertain under these conditions.

It is reasoned that the hold-time effect is not sufficiently explained by the increase in plastic strain alone (compared to no-hold tests) but that the additional assumption of creep damage introduced during the hold period has to be made. Only then can the different effects of hold time on the low and the high ductility version of the material be qualitatively explained.

The fractures advanced by a combination of intergranular and transgranular cracks. They tended to shift from transgranular to intergranular as the hold time increased. The shift was more complete for the lowductility material than for the high-ductility material.

The variation of the stress range during cycling was different for the two conditions of heat treatment. The high-ductility version of the material showed continuous strain softening ($\Delta\sigma_t$ decreases), whereas the relatively constant stress range was observed for the low-ductility version. After-test hardness measurements indicated a smaller hardness drop for the low-ductility material than for the high-ductility material. The amount of stress relaxation per cycle was also different for the two conditions of heat treatment. Thus a definite pattern of the variation of the dependent quantities was observed in all the tests for the two conditions of heat treatment.

In all previously discussed papers, introduction of

hold time was at the maximum tensile strain of the cycle. Berling and Conway, [3] introduced the hold time at three different positions in the strain cycle, as illustrated in Fig. 18. A very accurate experimental



FIG. 18 – Various Waveforms Used by Berling and Conway, [3].

set-up was used including servo-controlled testing equipment induction heating, diametral strain measurements, and a special strain computer to enable axial strain control. (Keeping the diametral strain constant is not equivalent to keeping the axial strain constant in hold-time tests.) Most of the testing was done with Type 304 and Type 316 SS at two strain rates, $4 \ge 10^{-5}$ and $4 \ge 10^{-3}$ sec⁻¹.

Berling and Conway conclude that only a hold in tension (waveform no. 4 in Fig. 18) shows a considerable cycle reduction. They are capable of measuring the total strain range accurately. A plot of log plastic strain range (presumably measured at $N_f/2$) vs. number of cycles is shown in Fig. 19. It can be seen that the plastic strain range does not correlate the data. For the same plastic strain range various N_f values are obtained depending on the hold time.

The tensile hold tests were shown to correlate with the creep-rupture curve of the same material. The stress of the cycling test used to correlate the result is the average of the relaxation stress ($\sigma_{max} - \Delta \sigma_r/2$) during the hold-time. If this stress (presumably taken at N_f/2) is plotted versus time to failure, it correlates well with the creep-rupture curve, Fig. 4 in Ref. 3. It is known that the peak stress and the amount of stress relaxation during hold time vary with cycles, e.g., Figs. 13 and 14. Each cycle will therefore have a different average relaxation stress. It appears to the reviewers that the correlation with creep tests will depend on the cycle from which the value of the average relaxation stress was picked. This information, however, is not given in the paper.

Berling and Conway show a definite levelling-off in the cycles-to-failure reduction due to hold time beyond a 30 min hold time. Further confirmation with additional test results would be helpful. No further reduction in fatigue life is observed beyond this hold time, (Fig. 5 in [3], not reproduced.). It is important to note that none of the previous authors indicated such a saturation effect. Berling and Conway surmise that this might be due to their very accurate control which none of the previous authors were able to employ.

The fracture initiated and propagated transgranularly in all cases except in the specimens with a hold in tension only. These specimens showed intergranular initiation and propagation of the cracks.

In an additional analysis of the work discussed in the preceeding paragraph, Conway et al., [12], investigate



FIG. 19-Effect of Hold Period and Strain-Wave Form on the Plastic Strain Fatigue Resistance of AISI 304 Stainless Steel Tested in Air at 1200 F and a Strain Rate of 4×10^{-3} sec⁻¹.



FIG. 20-Stress Amplitude versus Time-to-Fracture Correlation of Hold-Time Data Involving Hold Periods in Tension Only for AISI 304 SS in Air at 650 C. Strain rate $4 \times 10^{-3} \sec^{-1}$.

the hold-time properties of AISI Type 304 and Type 316 stainless steel. Two methods of data correlation for hold-time tests are pursued. The first one is based on the stress amplitude at $N_f/2$ for tests with no hold time, and presumably on $\sigma_{max} - \Delta \sigma_r/2$ at $N_f/2$ for the hold time tests. Figure 20 shows the correlation obtained for AISI 304 SS at 650 C and 4 x 10⁻³ 1/sec strain rate. The curves for the hold-time tests branch off the nohold-time results at the pertinent strain range and have the same slope. The authors indicate that this type of plotting does not permit the exact prediction of the hold-time effect, but rather the trend of the data.

Another type of correlation for the 650 C hold time for AISI 304 is based on the plot of log time-to-fracture vs. log time for one cycle, given in Fig. 21. One should recognize that a similar plot, using frequency instead of time for one cycle, was employed by Coles, [9] and was reproduced in Fig. 7. The data in Fig. 21 fall in one straight line for a given strain range. The slope of these lines, however, are different for the two strain ranges. The authors discuss the potential usefulness of this observation in eliminating the need for long time testing, provided that further results will confirm the findings of Fig. 21. Figures 19, 21, and 23 of Ref. [35] indicate the same type of correlation for ferritic and austenitic materials.

At one point in Ref. [12] the authors state the generally-known fact that hold times decrease the number of cycles-to-fracture and increase the total time-tofracture. They conclude "If a design life is established based on no-hold-time data, a specimen or component tested with hold periods at peak strain could not, within this design life, be subjected to the number of cycles necessary to cause it to fracture."

While this conclusion is true for specimen testing

where number of cycles and test time are directly connected, it may not be valid for design application. In this case total plant operation time and the total number of cyclic operations can be specified separately. Therefore the design has to be checked whether a limitation exists due to the cycles or due to the total operating time. For the former case, hold-time data are definitely necessary.

The effect of the introduction of a vacuum on the fatigue life with and without hold time for a ½ percent Molybdenum steel at 500 °C was investigated in Ref. 55. Figure 22 gives a summary of the results. It is important to note that the introduction of a 30-min hold time reduced the cycles-to-failure in air and in vacuum by roughly the same ratio. The absolute value of the cycles-to-fracture was considerably higher for vacuum than for air. It is therefore evident that both the environment and mechanical damage will have an effect on the fatigue life at elevated temperature.

Hold Time with Creep

As explained earlier, the bar is under load control all the time and therefore a continuous elongation and a final necking down of the specimen is possible. Compared to hold time with relaxation, this subject has received little attention.

Tilly, [47] investigated the behavior of a nickelchromium alloy and of a 11% chromium steel under completely-reversed load-controlled conditions at *room temperature*. The cycle-dependent creep was measured with a diametral extensometer. The cyclic frequency was 0.12 cpm and the investigation included cycles-tofailure from ½ (tensile test) to about 1000.

The cycles-to-failure depended on the direction of the first quarter cycle. If compression was applied first, the life was longer than when tension was applied first. The



FIG. 21-Correlation of Low-Cycle Fatigue Data for 304 SS Tested in Air at 650 C for no Hold Time and for Hold Time in Tension Only.

difference in the life diminished as cycles-to-failure increased.

The resulting creep curves were analyzed and a curve fit was made using the method of Graham and Walles which is termed a rheological approach. (For a description of this approach, see Kennedy, [28].) The creep curves for the condition of tension and compression first were different, more strain was accumulated in the tension-first creep curves. In every case a permanent tensile strain developed. It is the writers' opinion that the results are somewhat hard to interpret since only engineering stresses and not true stresses appear to be reported. At the end of the paper, it was shown that there is not an appreciable difference between the true tensile and compressive stress if they are compared on the basis of strain amplitude. However, the argument should have been based on the condition at the first quarter cycle where a substantial difference between the compressive and tensile true stress exists.



FIG. 22– The Effect of Hold Time and Temperature on the Fatigue Life of a ½ Percent Mo Steel in Air and in Vacuum.



FIG. 23-Effect of Hold Period in Hold-Time Tests with Creep for 11% Chromium Steel at 600 C.

The same 11% chromium steel was then investigated at 600 C for a variety of loading conditions under zeroto-tension loading. (See Tilly, [46]). Fig. 23 shows the results; the labeling is self-explanatory.

As the hold time is increased the time-to-fracture and the cycles-to-failure decrease. The creep-rupture test has the shortest life by each measure. The behavior of this material under stress control is therefore somewhat different than the trend of the data for hold time with relaxation.

The previously mentioned method by Graham and Walles was used again to curve-fit the strain vs. time curves. It was found that the test which accumulated the strain in the most rapid way showed also the shortest life.

No results of metallurgical studies were reported.

Hold Time, Mixed

Wood, [57] investigated the behavior of an aluminum grain refined pressure vessel alloy steel at room temperature and 350 C. He conducted three types of tests. Type I tests were conventional strain-controlled tests at room temperature and 350 C. It appears from the diagrams that zero-to-tension strain control was used. In the Type II tests, a switch from strain control to stress control was employed at a predetermined tensile stress. The specimen was then allowed to creep 10 min or 1 h. After that period, the strain was rapidly reduced to zero strain and then the whole cycle was repeated. The Type III tests were characterized by a 24 h hold under stress control and rapid compression to zero strain. The maximum strain at the end of the 24 h hold was predetermined. The Type II and III tests were conducted at 350 C.

It is clear that the test conditions in the Type II and III tests were overspecified. It is not possible to predict accurately the creep strain at the end of the hold time. The material changes its creep characteristic due to the cyclic loading and therefore the strain reached after a specified time at a certain stress will vary from cycle to cycle. Because of that property, the authors find that the actual creep time was often slightly different from the nominal creep time required. The influence of hold time on cycles-to-failure is depicted in Fig. 24. The Type III tests with creep



FIG. 24-Effect of Creep on High-Strain Fatigue Behavior at 350 C for an Aluminum Grain Refined Pressure Vessel Steel.

hold time introduce a considerable reduction in cyclesto-failure.

The author found that cyclic strain hardening was much more pronounced in the Type I tests at 350 C than in the room temperature tests. This was attributed to strain-aging of the material.

In explaining the hold-time effect, the author cites a paper by Feltner and Sinclair, [21]. These latter authors state that the fracture is fatigue controlled (dependent on cycles) when $T/T_m < 0.25$ (T = test temperature, $T_m \approx$ melting temperature of the material, T is measured in deg. K). If $T/T_m > 0.50$ the fracture is time dependent; i.e., creep controlled. In Wood's tests at 350 C, $T/T_m = 0.35$; therefore a combined criterion of creep and fatigue fracture will have to be used. Wood sets out to develop a fractional damage concept which will be discussed later.

In an effort to separate time-dependent cracking from cycle-dependent cracking, low-cycle fatigue tests with hold time were conducted with Udimet 700 at 1400 F by Wells and Sullivan, [54]. Their hold time was under stress control, whereas the rest of the cycle was under strain control. They find that the introduction of hold time in compression is more damaging than in tension. This result is contrary to the findings of Berling and Conway, [3]. Wells and Sullivan indicate that crack initiation occurs adjacent to the grainboundary precipitate.

PREDICTING CYCLE-REDUCING HOLD-TIME EFFECT

Before discussing the possibility of predicting the hold-time effect in low-cycle fatigue at elevated temperature, it is useful to consider briefly the evolution of low-cycle fatigue life prediction techniques.

The well-known Coffin-Manson Law predicts lowcycle fatigue life for completely-reversed, strain-controlled conditions at room temperature. This law is used in slightly different form by different investigators. However, the power law between cycles-to-failure and plastic or total strain range is well established. The engineering significance of this law lies in the fact that the fatigue life can be predicted with engineering accuracy from the properties measured in a tensile test.

Initial attempts to use this law at elevated temperature showed in many cases that the prediction was unconservative when compared with actual test results. It was then recognized that time-dependent effects which are not present at room temperature have to be considered in the prediction technique for elevated temperature.

The existing attempts to predict elevated-temperature, strain-controlled fatigue life under completelyreversed conditions could probably be classified into two groups. The first group tries to predict the holdtime effect using a frequency type approach. The second one attributes the hold-time effect to creep-fatigue interaction. Also, it should be kept in mind that most of the prediction methods are not specifically tailored to the hold-time problem. They are rather aimed at the elevated-temperature strain-fatigue problem of which frequency and hold-time effects are a part.

Frequency Approach

Coffin, [6] experiments with Type A-nickel at 550, 650 and 750 C at crosshead speeds of 0.2, 0.05, 0.005, and 0.0005 in/min. He then uses the previously-mentioned equation (3)

$$\nu^k t_f = C_1 \tag{3}$$

to plot the results at a given plastic strain range (Coles and Skinner, [9] used total strain range). Coffin finds that the exponent k is nearly independent of the plastic strain range, as seen in Fig. 25. (Nominal plastic strain range is used; actually the plastic strain range is an output variable and therefore changes with cycles in a given test.) From this diagram, C_1 can be determined for a given nominal plastic strain range. A cross plot of C_1 vs. nominal plastic strain range ($\Delta \epsilon_p$) reveals that the data can be represented by

$$C_1^{\beta} \Delta \epsilon_p = C_2. \tag{4}$$

The values of C_1 , β , C_2 for A-nickel, Type 304 SS (from Berling and slot, [4]) and for Mo-V steel (from Forrest, [23]) are calculated and fall in a rather narrow range. (None of the investigators used hold time in their studies.) It is evident that $\nu \cdot t_f = N_f$. Using this relation, Coffin arrives at the formula

$$N_{\rm f} = (C_2 / \Delta \epsilon_{\rm p})^{1/\beta} \nu^{1-k}$$
⁽⁵⁾

Coffin then states that the necessary constants β , C₂, k can be determined from relatively short-time experiments to permit predictions of life when the actual life is extremely long. Finally he discusses the possibility of using Eq. (5) for the prediction of hold-time effects and writes "Equation (5) presumes that the frequency is defined in terms of a full cycle without regard to the wave shape. If this could be verified, the resulting simplification in experimentation and design could be of significant value. Thus, provided $\Delta \epsilon_p$ and ν remain constant, the life would be the same whether, for example, the straining is sinusoidal, or contains hold periods or other complications. Experimental attention needs to be given to this equation."

This approach is extended further in Ref. [7]. Starting with equation (5) which involves the plastic strain range, an assumption is made about the frequency dependence of the steady state stress range as a function of $\Delta \epsilon_p$. The equation

$$\Delta \sigma = \mathbf{A} (\Delta \epsilon_{\rm p})^n \, \nu^{\rm k} \, \mathbf{1} \tag{6}$$

is stated. The elastic strain range is found to be $\Delta\sigma/E$. The total strain range $\Delta\epsilon_t$ is composed of the elastic and the plastic strain range. Hence, $\Delta\epsilon_p$ is eliminated and $\Delta\sigma/E$ obtained from (6) is combined with (5) to obtain

$$\Delta \epsilon = \frac{AC_2^n}{E} N_f^{-\beta_n} \nu^{k_1 + (1-k)\beta_n} + C_2 N_f^{-\beta} \nu^{(1-k)\beta}$$
(7)

It is discussed how to obtain the six constants in (7) and it is shown that the proper choice of the constants will lead to Manson's universal slope equation (9) and to an equation proposed by Langer. To apply equation (7) to the prediction of cycles-to-failure for tests involving hold times, the frequency is determined to be

$$\nu = \frac{l}{T} \,. \tag{8}$$

Using this method the constants are determined for AISI 304 SS at 1200 F (650 C) from the data of Refs. [4 and



FIG. 25-Frequency Versus Time-to-Failure. "A" Nickel at 550 C; various nominal plastic strain ranges.



FIG. 26-Comparison of Predicted Cycles-to-Failure [Eq. (7)] and Actually Observed Cycles-to-Failure for no Hold Time and for Hold Time in Tension Tests of AISI 304 SS at 1200 F (650 C).

12]. A comparison between predicted and actually observed cycles-to-failure for these data is given in Fig. 26. A similar comparison is made for 1 Cr - Mo - V steel investigated in [11] and for some unpublished data on René 41.

The methods proposed by Coles and Skinner, [9], and Conway et al. [12] also consider hold-time effects to be of the frequency type. Their analysis was discussed previously. The idea expressed in Eq. (3) is due to Eckel, [16] who correlated fatigue tests on lead in this fashion.

Creep Fatigue Interaction Approach

Manson and Halford, [38], and Halford and Manson, [25] compare their elevated temperature prediction method with a great variety of experimental data.

To account for an indirect creep effect, they determine the cycles-to-failure directly from the universal slopes equation (the tensile properties are evaluated at the temperature of interest)

$$\Delta \epsilon_{t} = \frac{3.5\sigma_{u}}{E} N_{f}^{-0.12} + D^{0.6} N_{f}^{-0.60}.$$
 (9)

In most cases, adequate lower-bound, average and upper-bound lives have been found to be $N_f/10$, $N_f/5$, and N_f , respectively.

The possibility of a damaging direct creep effect is also considered. It is possible that the lower-bound of the previously mentioned estimate is not conservative. This may happen if the slope of the stress-rupture curve is steep, the temperature is high, and the frequency is low. Then the fatigue life is given by

$$N_{f}^{*} = \frac{N_{f}}{\frac{(m+.12)}{1+(k/AF) N_{f}}}$$
(10)

where

 N_f = cycles-to-failure computed from Eq. (9),

k = factor expressing the fraction of a cycle
 at which the material is at the peak
 stress,

F = frequency

A and m = constants given by the representation of the creep-rupture curve by $\sigma_r = 1.75 \sigma_u (t_r/A)^m$,

- σ_r = stress of creep-rupture test,
- t_r = time to creep rupture under stress σ_r .

A criterion is then given whether Eq. (9) or (10) is to be used in the form of a diagram of m vs. AF. The method represented by Eq. (10) is proposed on an interim basis.

About 75 different sets of data are examined and compared with the prediction. "The method provided lower-bound fatigue lives for about 85% of the data,

upper-bound lives for approximately 95% of the data and nearly 80% of the data fell within a factor of three on either side of the estimated average lives."

The lives obtained from hold-time tests were mostly either below or at the lower-bound of the estimates. Krempl and Walker, [30] used the methods discussed above and found that the prediction method was not conservative for their hold-time tests.

A new prediction method was developed by the same authors, Manson et al., [39]. Basically, the new method, to be regarded as an interim method, proposes the substitution of a more relevant creep-rupture test than the ordinary creep-rupture test. The authors use a sort of cyclic creep-rupture test to determine creep-rupture life. In this test the stress is controlled between equal compressive and tensile values, and the stress is reversed whenever a predetermined strain value is reached. An example of this test is given in Fig. 27. (It should be noted that the changing material properties during cycling manifest themselves by a gradual reduction of the time spent at maximum stress.)

In the interpretation of this type of test, the question arises how to consider the effect of compressive stresses on creep damage. The authors assume that compressive damage is present in the strain cycling tests while it is not assumed to be present in the cyclic creep-rupture tests. Life fraction rules are used and creep and fatigue damage are weighed equally, added and equated to unity. With this method it was possible to account for the effect of frequency on fatigue life of Type 316 stainless steel at 1300 F and of the colbalt-base alloy L605 at temperatures from room temperature to 1360 F. An example of the severity of the frequency effect and the success of the prediction method for L605 alloy is given in Fig. 3. The authors conclude that they had reasonably good results with their method. At the same time they indicate that the linear damage rule may not hold for other types of stress patterns and indicate that more study is needed. It should be noted that the methods proposed are not specifically aimed at hold time.

Wood [57] developed a fractional damage concept to account for the hold-time effect. He calculates the

fatigue damage by $\frac{N_c}{N_f}$ and the creep-rupture damage

by
$$\frac{t_c}{t_f}$$

The symbols denote:

- $N_f \approx$ number of cycles-to-failure at a given strain range at room temperature
- N_c = number of cycles-to-failure at the same strain range at 350 C
- t_c = total time under creep conditions at a given stress level
- $t_f \approx time-to-creep-rupture failure at a stress level relevant to the hold-time.$

The computed values of $\frac{t_c}{t_f}$ and $\frac{N_c}{N_f}$ are plotted in Fig. 28.



Manson, et al., [39].

FIGURE 27—Auxiliary Cyclic Creep-Rupture Test at 1300 F for Type 316 Stainless Steel. (Note higher creep resistance in compression, and cyclic increases in creep rates in both tension and compression. Results traced from strip or chart recordings.)



After Wood, [57].

FIGURE 28-Relationship between Creep Rupture and Fatigue Damage. (Note: A linear damage law would predict the straight line shown).

The result is of interest due to the great deviation from the linear damage rule. This rule would predict the

straight line connecting the points $\frac{N_c}{N_f} = 1$ and $\frac{t_c}{t_f} = 1$.

It is therefore advisable to check the validity of the linear rule under combined creep and fatigue action before it can be applied with confidence.

Edmunds and White, [18] use three different methods in an attempt to predict the hold-time effect. The calculations were only made for one strain range, 0.3%. (The necessary relaxation data could apparently only be obtained at a strain amplitude of 0.15%).

Method A. The stress relaxation $\Delta \sigma_r$ during a cycle (see Fig. 4) is determined. This stress was converted to strain by division with Young's Modulus. The total relaxation strain was summed, and failure was said to occur when this strain was equal to the elongation in a creep-rupture test, which was taken to be 20%. Thus,

$$N_A = \frac{0.2}{\Delta \sigma_r / E}$$

Method B. Exhaustion of time-to-rupture t_r is assumed to be the failure criterion. The relaxation curve was divided into a number of time increments Δt . The average stress was determined and the time-to-rupture t_r read from a creep-rupture curve. The cycles-to-failure were then determined

by
$$N_B = \frac{1}{\sum \frac{\Delta t}{t_r}}$$
 where Σ indicates summation

over the hold-time.

Method C. Secondary creep-rate fracture criterion. The relaxation curve was subdivided as before, for each stress the secondary creep-rate \dot{e}_s during that interval Δt was determined from a separate diagram. Rupture was said to occur when

$$N_{\rm c} = \frac{0.2}{\Sigma \dot{\rm e}_{\rm s} \Delta t} \; .$$

The elongation at creep rupture was again taken to be 20%.

The results of the three prediction techniques are reproduced in Table 2 for two hold-times, 30 min and 300 min. The column labeled relaxation cycle indicates the cycle at which the necessary information for methods A, B, C was taken from the respective relaxation curve. NA, NB, NC indicate the number of cycles-to-failure calculated according to method A, B, and C, whereas N is the actually observed value. It can be seen that the result depends greatly on which relaxation cycle was used for prediction of the life. "The chief impediment in this interpretation is the variation that occured from one relaxation curve to another. No doubt some of this variation arose because neither load nor strain rate control was available on the creep relaxation machine, but even so it appears that some of the variation was a genuine reflection of material properties" (Edmunds, [17].) In evaluating the results reproduced in Table 2, Edmunds

Hold time	Relaxation cycle	NA	NB	Nc	N
30 min	1	840	680	2000	4500
	10	810	1330	5390	
	20	750	1200	4670	
	30	630	1300	5100	
	40	590	1780	7790	
	50	580	1900	8790	
300 min	1	440	220	930	
	10	540	290	1650	
	20	490	290	1560	1500
	30	430	350	1950	
	40	420	470	2830	
	50	410	550	3630	L

TABLE 2-Comparison between Predicted Lives (Methods A, B, C) and Observed Lives N.

After Edmunds, [17].

concludes, "... it would be valuable if endurance tests with hold time were supplemented by a relatively small amount of creep data of the kind suggested". The auxiliary data are the creep-rupture curve and a plot of secondary creep rate versus stress obtained at the same temperature as the low-cycle fatigue test.

Esztergar and Ellis, [20] reviewed and evaluated the methods proposed in [17] and [57] using data reported in [17, 30 and 57]. Using the prediction methods A, B, and C proposed by Edmunds and White [17], poor correlation was found (their Fig. 17) which was attributed to the simplifying assumptions in the methods, such as neglect of cyclic softening and lack of accurate creep data. The authors note that the method proposed by Wood, [57] is directly applicable only for hold time with creep. Hold periods with relaxation have to be converted into equivalent hold periods with creep for which they evaluate four methods. They calculate damage fractions from the test data in [17, 30 and 57]for comparison with the linear creep-fatigue interaction rule

$$\frac{N_c}{N_f} + \frac{t_c}{t_r} = 1$$
(9)

The results are shown in Fig. 29. The improbably-high creep damage fractions are considered to be a result of unrealistic damage concepts in developing the equivalence methods. They conclude that the hold-time effect on cycles-to-failure cannot be predicted with certainty by any of the four methods considered and that the linear creep-fatigue interaction assumption is not reliable.

Marshall and Cook, [40], consider a slight modification of the linear interaction rule. They observe that the actual relaxation curve in hold-time tests with relaxation levels off after about 10 minutes, and that the stress level thereafter remains essentially constant ([30] and internal Central Electricity Generating Board Reports). The point in time after which the stress level remains essentially constant (to be observed from experimental data) is the onset of creep damage and from thereon the second term in equation (9) contributes to the overall damage. Good correlation is found for a limited set of data. The authors indicate that further evidence of good correlation for long hold-time data is necessary before the model can be considered fully proven.

CONSIDERATION OF HOLD-TIME EFFECT IN DESIGN

It is clear that only highly stressed components of a machine have to be designed against low-cycle fatigue with hold time. At the same time, these are the components which determine the overall reliability of the machine under consideration. It requires only this particular component to fail for an unscheduled outage to occur. The rest of the system may be completely in good operating condition. Therefore, a reliable design procedure for the design against low-cycle fatigue holdtime failure is necessary.

The ultimate objective of design is to assure reliable operation of the system and therefore a reliability analysis has to be performed. Ideally, this analysis consists of two parts:

- 1) Stress analysis. The magnitude of the stresses is calculated as a function of time and location under suitable boundary conditions which may in general vary in time.
- 2) A decision whether the stresses so calculated will ensure reliable operation. For this, a relevant fracture criterion is absolutely essential.



After Esztegar and Ellis, [20].

FIGURE 29-Comparison of Calculated Damage Fractions with the Linear Creep/Fatigue Interaction Rule.

Figure 30 shows a simplified schematic of the steps involved in reliability analysis for hold-time conditions. The stress analysis part is either performed by closed form solutions of simplified geometries or of approximate solutions for the actual geometries by finite element computer programs. These programs are extremely versatile in handling complex geometries and boundary conditions.

The relevancy for low-cycle fatigue with hold time of the stresses calculated by the classical method and by



RELIABILITY ANALYSIS FOR HOLD-TIME CONDITIONS

FIGURE 30-Schematic Diagram Illustrating the Various Elements of Reliability Analysis for Hold-Time Conditions.

the finite element computer method hinges on the characterization of the material used in these calculations. The previous survey has shown that for conditions of low-cycle fatigue with hold time structural materials show strain rate sensitivity, cyclic hardening or softening as well as creep and relaxation. If the stress analysis procedure used in design is tailored to the uniaxial case of the test specimen, it should be capable of reproducing the observed phenomena which are schematically represented in Fig. 31. It can be said that none of the material characterizations used in the papers to be discussed in this section can reproduce all of the observed behavior shown in 31. The approaches with respect to this aspect differ from author to author and will be discussed in the following.

The design philosophies leading to the proper fracture criterion are also not uniformly established. One general difficulty is represented by the fact that elevated temperature low-cycle fatigue testing has been done under uniaxial state of stress whereas design problems are usually for multiaxial states of stress. To extract information from uniaxial tests, an effective stress has to be defined. No experimental support for the preference of any one of the effective stresses or strains was found for hold-time conditions. White, [56], quotes work by Pascoe and DeVilliers, [41], and Mackenzie et al., [37], which shows that the equivalent octahedral shear strain failed to correlate the results of room temperature low-cycle fatigue tests.

Since thermal fatigue cracking is mostly experienced in stress raisers, the treatment of discontinuities deserves special attention. This question will, however, be deemphasized since a separate review will be devoted to this subject.

The aim of a reliability analysis is to prevent cracking. However, circumstances arise where a crack is found in machinery and then decisions have to be made on the disposition of the problem. Therefore crack-propagation information is being generated on a limited scale, [49, 50].

Timo, [49], performs an elastic thermal stress analysis for idealized turbine components such as beams, slabs and cylinders and obtains a nominal strain range for a trapezoidal temperature cycle called a general cycle. An elastic stress concentration factor K_t is used to characterize the stress raisers present in the actual structure. An elastoplastic analysis yields the strain concentration factor for a given material, a given K_t and a given nominal strain range. The concentrated strain range is obtained by multiplying the nominal strain range by the strain concentration factor. The analysis therefore considers elastic and elastoplastic material behavior to estimate the maximum concentrated strain range. Creep and relaxation and strain hardening (softening) are not considered.

To obtain a fracture criterion for conditions relevant to power plant, it is necessary to consider the relation between the laboratory and the actual service cycle as explained in the Introduction, and to extend the holdtime data beyond $N_f > 10^4$. Available creep-rupture information is used for the latter purpose. The number of cycles-to-failure multiplied by an assumed hold time defines time failure which is interpreted as time-torupture for a creep test. Associated with this time-torupture is a creep-rupture strength. For zero hold time, the estimated fatigue strength is used. The corresponding total strain range is obtained by dividing the creeprupture strength by the proper modulus of elasticity and multiplying by two. In this manner, several points are obtained through which the corresponding hold-time curves are extrapolated, see Fig. 32. For design purposes, Timo recommends simplified curves (not reproduced)

í	FORCING FUNCT	TION	MATERIAL	RESPONSE
TYPE OF TEST	FORMULATION	SYMBOL	SYMBOL	FORMULATION
MONOTONIC STRAIN RATE CONTR OL	$\dot{\epsilon}$ = CONST		$\sigma \underbrace{\overbrace{\overset{\overset{\overset{\overset{}}}{\epsilon_3} \overset{\overset{}}{\epsilon_1}}_{\overset{\overset{}}{\epsilon_3} \overset{\overset{}}{\epsilon_1}}}_{\overset{}{\epsilon_1}}$	$\sigma = f(\epsilon_{i} \dot{\epsilon})$ FOR $\dot{\epsilon}_{i} > \dot{\epsilon}_{2} \rightarrow \sigma_{i} \ge \sigma_{2}$ ($\epsilon = \text{CONST}$)
MONOTONIC Stress rate Control	σ =CONST		$\sigma = \frac{\sigma_1}{\sigma_2} \frac{\sigma_1}{\sigma_2} \frac{\sigma_2}{\sigma_2} \frac{\sigma_2}{\sigma_3} \frac{\sigma_2}{\epsilon}$	$\epsilon = f(\sigma_{I}\dot{\sigma})$ FOR $\dot{\sigma}_{I} > \dot{\sigma}_{2} - \epsilon_{I} \le \epsilon_{2}$ ($\sigma = \text{CONST}$)
STATIC CREEP	σ=CONST	$\sigma = \frac{\sigma_1}{\sigma_2}$		$\begin{aligned} \epsilon &= f(\sigma_1 t) \\ \dot{\epsilon} &= \frac{d\epsilon}{dt} = \frac{df(\sigma_1 t)}{dt} \ge 0 \\ FOR ALL t \end{aligned}$
STATIC RELAXATION	€ =CONST		$\sigma \underbrace{\epsilon_1}_{\epsilon_2}$	$\sigma = F(\epsilon_1 t)$ $\dot{\sigma} = \frac{d\sigma}{dt} = \frac{dF(\epsilon_1 t)}{dt} \le 0$
CYCLIC STRAIN CONTROL	$\epsilon = \epsilon_m + \epsilon_a G(t)$		$\sigma = \frac{2\sigma_{a}(\epsilon_{1}t)}{TIME}$ $\sigma_{m}(\epsilon_{1}t)$	$\sigma = \sigma_{m}(\epsilon_{i}t) + \sigma_{a}(\epsilon_{i}t)G^{i}(t+\psi(\epsilon)) \\ \sigma_{m}(\epsilon_{i}t) AND \sigma_{a}(\epsilon_{i}t) \\ ARE BOUNDED$
CYCLIC STRESS CONTROL	σ=σ _m +σ _a F(t)		ϵ $\epsilon_{m}(\sigma_{1}t)$ TIME	$\epsilon = \epsilon_{m}(\sigma_{l} t) + \epsilon_{a}(\sigma_{l} t) F^{1}(t + \psi(\sigma))$ $\epsilon_{m}(\sigma_{l} t) IS NOT BOUNDED MAY BECOME INFINITE$

Krempl, [31].

FIGURE 31-Schematic Diagram Showing the Behavior of Structural Materials under Monotonic, Static and Cyclic Loading. (A low-cycle fatigue test with hold time is a combination of the tests listed.)

shown in Fig. 14 of [49] and Fig. 8 in [50]. Therefore, creep, relaxation and cyclic strain hardening are implicitly considered in the failure criterion.

The number of cycles to cracking is then obtained by entering the concentrated strain range into the low-cycle fatigue curve. The method of life calculation is therefore based on the maximum strain range.

A statement is made about the approximations inherent in the analysis. Timo says: "However, because of the inherent variability in material properties, the uncertainty in determining thermal stresses accurately, the inumerable variations in actual service cycles, the effects of strain concentrations, etc., it is believed to be neither feasible nor necessary to attempt a more rigorous approach at the present time".

Dawson and Neill, [15] in their paper emphasize that thermal stress and thermal fatigue analysis are undergoing continuous development and that their paper represents the current state of development of one particular approach.

Dawson and Neill approach the problem by considering a two-dimensional axisymmetric problem for temperature and thermal strain distributions. The nominal strains are calculated on an elastic basis, using a computer program. Concentrated strain ranges are obtained by an elastoplastic analysis based on the cyclic stressstrain curve which gives the strain concentration factor. The biaxial state of stress in the actual component is recognized and the von Mises equivalent strain is used for comparison with the uniaxial failure data. These failure data are obtained by extrapolation of hold-time data to hold times relevant for design. A safety factor of two is built into the calculation method.

In this analysis, creep and relaxation effects are not considered for stress analysis but are contained in the failure criterion. Cyclic hardening is thought to be im-



After Timo, [49].

FIGURE 32-Extrapolation of Low-Cycle Fatigue Hold-Time Data for Design Purposes using Creep-Rupture Data.

portant since the cyclic stress-strain diagram is used. Also von Mises equivalent strain is adopted for the comparison of calculated strains with uniaxial failure criterion.

Wellinger et al., [53], consider thermal stress in the design of boiler drums. The maximum thermal stresses are calculated for the steady-state temperature distribution in the vicinity of holes (stress concentration approximated by $K_t = 2$) using elastic analysis. These thermal stresses are combined with the stresses derived from mechanical loading. Special consideration is given to the addition of mechanical and thermal stresses in the elastic-plastic state. A total strain range is calculated using experimentally determined correction factors. The life-to-cracking is obtained by entering this calculated strain range into a low-cycle fatigue curve which is obtained for uninterrupted cycling. The influence of mean strain is, however, considered.

In this analysis, creep and relaxation as well as cyclic strain hardening (softening) are not considered in the stress analysis and in the failure criterion. This appears to be feasible since the maximum temperature for which the analysis is intended is below 350 C. Below this temperature, time effects are generally considered to be unimportant, Lawton, [34]. A careful analysis of the holdtime data on $C - \frac{1}{2}Mo$ steel by Coles and Chitty, [10], however, indicated that a reduction in cycles is observed when a 30 min hold-time is introduced at 350 C.

Zlepko, [59], considers the operational reliability of

boiler drums in large steam generators. He states that "a full understanding of low-cycle thermal fatigue is not feasible at present because of the difficulty of the analysis". Therefore, no stress analysis is pursued by the author and evaluation is based on the relative ranking of various Russian ferritic and austenitic materials in simulated service testing.

The first kind of test is a creep-rupture test with cyclic temperature excursions of varying magnitude. The results are given in Table 3 for the Russian Steel $12XIM\Phi$ (equivalent to a 1 Cr $\frac{1}{4}$ Mo V alloy steel). Even a small temperature excursion causes a considerable reduction in the time-to-fracture. (The percentage value following 565 C is not explained in the text.) The author states that the principal factor determining the percentage reduction in time-to-fracture is the total time at excess temperature, not the number of cycles of temperature variation. (The author does not give sufficient experimental data so that an independent check could have been made.)

However, this evidence is contradicted by service experience and therefore simulated service tests on tube bends were performed. The result was that both total time and cycles had an effect on the life-to-cracking.

The final results of the investigation were recommended safe maximum operating temperatures, e.g., 585 C for the $1 \text{ Cr} - \frac{1}{4} \text{ Mo V}$ steel.

It is clear that such an approach is only feasible for standard operating pressures (or for a given stress) and

Nos.	Duties	$\sigma = 16 \text{ kg/mm}^2$ (157 MN/m ²)	$\sigma = 18 \text{ kg/mm}^2$ (176 MN/m ²)	$\sigma = 20 \text{ kg/mm}^2$ (196MN/m ²)
		$\Delta t = 10^{\circ}C$		
1.	t = 565°(75%) + 575°C	17	22.2	15.5
2.	t = 565 ^o (50%) + 575 ^o C	22.7	42.2	16.4
3.	t = 565 ^o (25%) + 575 ^o C	39.2		47.7
	t = 575°C		53	65.8
	<u>, , ,</u>	$\Delta t = 25^{\circ}C$		
4.	t = 565°(75%) + 590°C	17.5	20.8	
5.	t = 565 ^o (50%) + 590 ^o C	34.4	39.5	15.4
6.	t = 565 ^o (25%) + 590 ^o C	58.3	64.7	54.0
	t = 590	78	80	90.2
		$\Delta t = 50^{\circ}C$		
8.	t = 565 ^o (75%) + 615 ^o C		20.6	23.8
9.	t = 565°(50%) + 615°C	44.5	45.3	
10.	t = 565 ^o (25%) + 615 ^o C	71.5	72.5	71.4
	t = 615	94.3	96	97.6

Percent reduction in time to rupture compared with t = 565 C.

From Zlepko, [59].

therefore is limited to relatively constant conditions, excluding transient thermal stresses.

Unksov et al. [51] investigate thermal stresses in turbine discs and boiler drums. For the turbine disc, elastic-thermoplastic analysis was performed with a digital computer. Their material was idealized as follows:

For a single load application isotropic hardening is assumed with the yield surface dependent on the instantaneous temperature and the strain history. Flow rules are also given. To make this type of plasticity theory amenable to cyclic application, two further assumptions about unloading, reloading and the shape of subsequent yield surfaces at each half cycle are introduced. For the actual calculation the material was assumed to be cyclically stable (no strain hardening in the writers' opinion) and the strains at the rim and the bore are calculated for the first five half cycles. Due to the assumption of cyclic stability, stable conditions were obtained after the second loading.

The strain range so calculated was used to determine cycles-to-failure from a failure criterion determined from Coffin's original thermal fatigue investigation, [8].

This investigation is unique in that it considers, at least in principle, cyclic strain hardening or softening which can be considerable, as illustrated in Fig. 13. However, it does not include time-dependent deformation such as creep, or relaxation in the stress analysis or in the failure criteria.

The boiler drum is analyzed by a purely elastic thermal stress analysis based on experimentally determined temperature distributions. The creep and fatigue characteristics of the respective materials were determined in air and partly in high-temperature water. The effect of acid cleaning, oxygen content of the boiler water is also included. Direct life calculations of the components are not included.

Recently, Spera, [43, 44] considered the interaction of low-cycle fatigue and creep damage on the basis of a linear damage rule to calculate elevated temperature low-cycle fatigue life of components. His analysis, which is complete in the sense that both stress analysis and life calculation are done for certain representative geometries under expedient simplifying assumptions, does not consider hold time proper. It will therefore not be discussed here.

After reviewing the various design approaches to lowcycle fatigue with hold time, it is clear that a complete analysis has not yet been performed. Most authors consider elastic material behavior only, modified by elasticplastic strain concentration factors. Strain hardening is infrequently factored into the analysis and creep and relaxation are altogether ignored. It is only in the failure criteria that these effects appear to be considered relevant. The area of reliability analysis for hold-time conditions offers therefore considerable room for improvement.

SUMMARY

A survey was made of the influence of hold time on the deformation and fracture behavior of structural materials at elevated temperature. The following conclusions can be supported by the results of research papers consulted in this survey.

An introduction of hold time will reduce the number of cycles-to-failure compared to uninterrupted cycling; the total time-to-failure, however, is increased.

For the stress-controlled mode, available data indicate that the conventional creep-rupture test exhibits a shorter life-time than repeated zero-to-tension load application in either triangular or rectangular waveform. The basis for this conclusion are plots of maximum stress versus time-to-rupture [Tilly, 46], Fig. 23.

For hold time with relaxation (strain-controlled mode) the papers surveyed showed the following common trend if the hold time is introduced at the maximum tensile strain of the cycle. It is clear that the holdtime effect is dependent on temperature. All the values quoted were obtained near the maximum operating temperature of the respective materials.

- The cycle-reducing hold-time effect is more pronounced at low-strain ranges than at high-strain ranges; i.e., the cycle reduction is higher at lowstrain ranges than at high-strain ranges.
- 2) At a given strain range, cycle reduction increases with increasing hold time (Figs. 6, 8, 9, 11, 12). On a plot of log cycles-to-failure versus log hold time, straight lines are obtained. Sometimes a slight downward trend is observed (Fig. 17). Only one investigation reports a saturation effect; i.e., no further reduction of cycles-to-failure with increase of hold-time, [Berling and Conway, 3.].
- 3) The hold-time effect is more pronounced in pushpull than in bending (Fig. 12). Different amounts of elastic follow-up of the testing machines used were considered to be responsible for the observed difference in the severity of the hold-time effect. It appears then that push-pull tests with accurate strain control will furnish the most reliable information.
- 4) The following should be considered a rough indicator of the cycle reducing hold-time effect for ferritic and austenitic power plant materials. For a given cycles-to-failure the introduction of a 3-h hold time amounts to a 50% reduction in the allowable strain amplitude (Timo, [49]).

At about one percent total strain range, an increase of the hold time by a factor of 10 reduces the cycles-to-failure by 40% of the initial value. At higher strain ranges the reduction is less, at lower strain ranges the reduction is more than at one percent strain range. Presently, the magnitude of the cycle reducing hold-time effect at long holdtimes (> 10⁴min) is uncertain. A comparison of the hold-time effect on various ferritic materials is given in Fig. 33, [35].

5) The nature of the cracks tends to shift from transcrystalline to intercrystalline as the hold time increases. However, it does not appear to be possible to attribute intercrystalline cracking exclusively to creep effects and transcrystalline cracking to fatigue effects. Trans- and intercrystalline cracking can be found in pure fatigue as well as in

pure creep tests [2, 24].

С

- 6) The effect of introducing hold time at other than the maximum tensile strain point of the cycle is relatively unexplored. Hold times at the maximum compressive position are reported to be either less severe [3] or more severe [54] than the ones introduced at the maximum tensile position of the cycle. Hold time introduced at zero surface stress showed no appreciable life-reducing effect [18].
- 7) If the tests are conducted in vacuum and in air, the cycles-to-failure are considerably higher in vacuum than in air. The atmosphere has therefore a deleterious effect on cycles-to-failure. The introduction of hold time led to about the same percentage reduction of the no-hold-time cyclesto-failure in air and in vacuum, [55].

Attempts are made to predict the cycle-reducing holdtime effect. The methods specifically aimed at the holdtime problem appear to be more successful than creep fatigue interaction methods. The modified linear damage rule yielded extremely poor correlations.

In design, not all the phenomena observed in holdtime tests are considered in the stress analysis part of the reliability analysis. Strain-rate effects, creep and relaxation were ignored in all the reviewed papers. Some considered cyclic strain hardening (softening) to a limited extent. Most stress analysis is done on an elastic basis modified by elastoplastic considerations.

No consensus was found what effective stress (strain) should be used in comparing the effect of multiaxial states of stress with the failure criteria established from uniaxial data.

The failure criteria are only established for uniaxial conditions and contain the effects of hold time and frequency as far as experimentally feasible. Extrapolation techniques are used for conditions not covered by the experiments, [49, 15].

Future Work

The following points should receive attention in future investigations:

- Separation of the crack initiation from the crack propagation phase in conducting the experiments.
- 2) An accurate recording of all the dependent variables during the test duration. Dependent variables are those which are not forced on the specimen. These variables yield important information on the changes which occur in the materials due to the cyclic plastic straining. For a strain controlled test such variables are the stress range, the relaxation curve, the hysteresis loops. Examples of the desired information are given in Figs. 13 and 14.

- Auxiliary information such as tensile stress-strain diagram and associated properties, creep strain curves and creep rupture curves is extremely desirable.
- 4) To perform stress analysis relevant for low-cycle fatigue with hold time, a material characterization has to be developed which can reproduce the behavior shown in Fig. 31. It can be shown that neither elasticity, plasticity nor viscoelasticity can reproduce all these properties. A new characterization of the behavior of structural materials at elevated temperature is needed and could be used in conjunction with the other inputs shown in Fig. 30 to obtain realistic stresses and strains in components as a function of time. Such a method would be able to account for strain rate sensitivity, creep, relaxation, cyclic hardening (softening) and would be most versatile in conjunction with a finite element computer program.
- 5) Low-cycle fatigue investigations involving multiaxial states of stress at elevated temperature are urgently needed. It is necessary to establish failure criteria for multiaxial states of stress for the condition of hold time. The customary approach of using effective stress or strain based on the maximum stress (strain) criterion, the von Mises criterion, and the maximum shear stress criterion needs confirmation.
- Failure criteria for multiaxial states of stress are needed. Creep fatigue interaction has to be considered. A possible modification for the modified

linear damage rule has to be developed, since it was shown to yield unsatisfactory correlation, [20, 57].

- 7) A rational reliability analysis has to be developed on the basis of a realistic stress analysis which considers time and cyclic effects. These realistic stresses should then be compared with a multiaxial relevant failure criterion. With such a method, maximum reliability of the highly stressed components could be achieved.
- The influence of the surrounding atmosphere on crack initiation and cycles-to-failure needs careful investigation.





FIGURE 33–Effect of Told Time at Maximum Tensile Strain on the Cycles-to-Failure of Cr-Mo-V Steels in the Temperature Range 950 - 1112 F.

REFERENCES

- Baldwin, E. E., Sokol, G. J., and Coffin, L. F., Jr., "Cyclic Strain Fatigue Studies on AISI Type 347 Stainless Steel", *Proceedings*, American Society for Testing and Materials, Vol. 57, 1957, pp. 567-586.
- [2] Barnes, J. F. and Tilly, G. P., "Assessment of Thermal Fatigue Resistance of High Temperature Alloys", *Journal of The Royal Aeronautical Society*, Vol. 69, 1965, pp. 343-345.
- [3] Berling, J. T. and Conway, J. B., "Effect of Hold Time on the Low-Cycle Fatigue Resistance of 304 Stainless Steel at 1200°F", Proceedings of the First International Conference on Pressure Vessel Technology, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 2, Sept. 1969.
- [4] Berling, J. T. and Slot, T., "Effect of Temperature and Strain Rate on Low-Cycle Fatigue Resistance of AISI 304, 316, and 348 Stainless Steels", *Fatigue at High Temperature, ASTM STP 459*, 1969, pp. 3-30.
- [5] Berry, W. R. and Johnson, L., "Prevention of Cyclic Thermal-Stress Cracking in Steam Turbine Rotors", *Transactions*, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 86A, 1964, *Journal of* Engineering for Power, pp. 361-367.
- [6] Coffin, L. F., Jr., "Predictive Parameters and their Application to High-Temperature Low-Cycle Fatigue", *International Conference on Fracture*, Brighton, England, 1969. Also General Electric Company, Report 68-C-359, 1968.
- [7] Coffin, L. F., Jr., "A Generalized Equation for Predicting High-Temperature Low-Cycle Fatigue, Including Hold Times", General Electric Company, Report 6AC-401, December 1969. To be published in 1970 in Proceedings, Air Force Conference on Fatigue and Fracture of Aircraft Structures.
- [8] Coffin, L. F., Jr., "A Study of the Effect of Cyclic Thermal Stresses in Ductile Metals", *Transactions*, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 76. 1959, pp. 931-950.
- [9] Coles, A. and Skinner, D., "Assessment of Thermal-Fatigue Resistance of High Temperature Alloys", *Journal of The Royal Aeronautical Society*, Vol. 69, 1965, pp. 53-55.
- [10] Coles, A. and Chitty, A., "Ductility and Reverse-Bend Fatigue Behaviour of C-Mo and Cr-Mo-V Steel", *International Conference on Thermal and High-Strain Fatigue*, London, England, 1967. The Institute of Metals, *M and R Series*, *No. 32*, 1967, pp. 328-345.
- [11] Coles, A., Hill, G. J., Dawson, R. A. T., and Watson, S. J., "The High-Strain Fatigue Properties of Low-Alloy Creep-Resisting Steels", The Institute of Metals, *M and R Series*, No. 32, 1967, pp. 270-294.
- [12] Conway, J. B., Berling, J. T., and Stentz, R. H., "Correlating the Effects of Hold Time and Strain

Rate on Low-Cycle Fatigue Behavior", International Conference on Thermal Stresses and Thermal Fatigue, Berkeley, England, 1969. To be published in 1970.

- [13] Dawson, R. A. T., "Factors to be Considered in the Design and Operation of Turbines to Prevent Failure by Thermal Fatigue", *International Confer*ence on Thermal and High-Strain Fatigue, London, England, 1967. The Institute of Metals, M and R Series, No. 32, 1967, pp. 40-54.
- [14] Dawson, R. A. T., Elder, W. J., Hill, G. J., and Price, A. T., "High-Strain Fatigue of Austenitic Steels", *International Conference on Thermal and High-Strain Fatigue*, London, England, 1967. The Institute of Metals, *M and R Series*, No. 32, 1967, pp. 239-269.
- [15] Dawson, R. A. T. and Neill, D. A., "Thermal Fatigue Analysis of Turbine Components", *International Conference on Thermal Stresses and Thermal Fatigue*, Berkeley, England, 1969. To be published in 1970.
- [16] Eckel, J. F., "The Influence of Frequency on the Repeated Bending Life of Acid Lead", *Proceedings*, American Society for Testing and Materials, Vol. 51, 1951, p. 745.
- [17] Edmunds, H. G., "Repeated Cyclic Strains", Proceedings of The Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 180, Part 31, 1965/1966, pp. 373-379.
- [18] Edmunds, H. G. and White, D. J., "Observations of the Effect of Creep Relaxation on High-Strain Fatigue", Journal of Mechanical Engineering Science, Vol. 8, 1966, pp. 310-321.
- [19] Ellison, E. G., "A Review of the Interaction of Creep and Fatigue", *Journal of Mechanical Engineering Science*, Vol. 11, 1969, pp. 318-339.
- [20] Esztergar, E. P. and Ellis, J. R., "Cumulative Damage Concepts in Creep-Fatigue Life Prediction", *International Conference on Thermal Stresses and Thermal Fatigue*, Berkeley, England, 1969. To be published in 1970.
- [21] Feltner, C. E. and Sinclair, G. M., "Cyclic Stress Induced Creep of Closely Packed Metals", Joint International Conference on Creep, 1963, Papers, The Institution of Mechanical Engineers, 1963, pp. 3-9 to 3-15.
- [22] Forrest, P. G. and Penfold, A. B., *Engineering*, Vol. 191, 1961. p. 522.
- [23] Forrest, P. G., "The Use of Strain Cycling Tests for Assessing Thermal Fatigue Resistance", *Applied Materials Research*, Vol. 4, 1965, p. 239.
- [24] Goldhoff, R. M., "The Effect of Creep Prestrain on Creep-Rupture Properties of Variable Notch Sensitivity Cr-Mo-V Steel", Applied Materials Research, Vol. 1, 1962, pp. 26-32.
- [25] Halford, G. R. and Manson, S. S., "Application of

a Method of Estimating High-Temperature Low-Cycle Fatigue Behavior of Materials", *Transactions*, American Society for Metals, Vol. 61, 1968, pp. 94-102.

- [26] Hanzalek, F. J. and Ipsen, P. G., "Boiler Turbine Coordination During Startup and Loading of Large Units", ASME Paper 65-WA/PWR-9, 1965, American Society of Mechanical Engineers.
- [27] Hill, G. J., "The Failure of Wrought 1%Cr-Mo-V Steels in Reverse-Bending High-Strain Fatigue at 550°C", International Conference on Thermal and High-Strain Fatigue, London, England, 1967. The Institute of Metals, M and R Series, No. 32, 1967, pp. 312-327.
- [28] Kennedy, A. J., Processes of Creep and Fatigue in Metals, J. Wiley, 1962, p. 155.
- [29] Kent, R. P., "Some Aspects of Metallurgical Research and Development Applied to Large Steam Turbines", *Parsons Journal*, December 1964.
- [30] Krempl, E. and Walker, C. D., "Effect of Creep-Rupture Ductility and Hold Time on the 1000°F Strain-Fatigue Behavior of a 1 Cr - 1 Mo - 0.25V Steel", ASTM STP 459, American Society for Testing and Materials, 1969, pp. 75-99.
- [31] Krempl, E., "An Attempt to Formulate a Constitutive Equation for Time-Dependent Deformation Behavior of Structural Materials at Constant Temperature", General Electric Company, Report DF68SL215, Sept. 1968.
- [32] Langer, B. F., "Design of Pressure Vessels for Low-Cycle Fatigue", *Transactions*, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 84, 1962, *Journal of Basic Engineering*, pp. 389-402.
- [33] Lawton, C. W., personal communication.
- [34] Lawton, C. W., "High Temperature, Low-Cycle Fatigue. A summary of Industry and Code Works", *High-Temperature Low-Cycle Fatigue*, W. H. Tuppeny, Jr., Editor, Society for Experimental Stress Analysis, 1968.
- [35] Leven, M. M., "A Review of Low-Cycle, High-Strain Fatigue", Westinghouse Research Laboratories, Research Report 69-1E7-STGRO-R1, Sept. 1969.
- [36] Lubahn, J. D. and Felgar, R. P., *Plasticity and Creep of Metals*, J. Wiley, 1962, p. 128.
- [37] MacKenzie, C. T., Burns, D. J., and Benham, P. P., Proceedings, The Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 180, 1965-66, p. 180.
- [38] Manson, S. S. and Halford, G., "A Method of Estimating High-Temperature and Low-Cycle Fatigue Behavior of Materials", *International* Conference on Thermal and High-Strain Fatigue, London, England, 1967. The Institute of Metals, M and R. Series, No. 32, 1967, pp. 154-170.
- [39] Manson, S. S., Halford, G. R., and Spera, D. A.,

"The Role of Creep in High-Temperature Low-Cycle Fatigue", Submitted for publication in the A. E. Johnson Memorial Volume, January 1969.

- [40] Marshall, P. and Cook, T. R., "Prediction of Failure of Materials Under Cyclic Loading", International Conference on Thermal Stresses and Thermal Fatigue, Berkeley, England, 1969. To be published in 1970.
- [41] Pascoe, K. J. and DeVilliers, J. W. R., Journal of Strain Analysis, Vol. 2, 1967, p. 117.
- [42] Peterson, R. E., "Design Approaches for Low-Cycle Fatigue Problems in Power Apparatus", *Tenth Sagamore Conference*, August 1963, Syracuse University Research Institute, Syracuse, New York.
- [43] Spera, D. A., "The Calculation of Thermal-Fatigue Life Based on Accumulated Creep Damage", National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Report NASA TMX-52558, 1969.
- [44] Spera, D. A., "The Calculation of Elevated Temperature Cyclic Life, Considering Low-Cycle Fatigue and Creep", submitted April 1969 to *Transactions* of the American Society for Metals.
- [45] Swindeman, R. W., The Strain Fatigue Properties of Inconel, Part II, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Report ORNL-3250, March 29, 1962.
- [46] Tilly, G. P., "Influence of Static and Cyclic Loads on the Deformation Behavior of an Alloy Steel at 600°C", International Conference on Thermal and High-Strain Fatigue, London, England, 1967. The Institute of Metals, M and R Series, No. 32, 1967, pp. 198-210.
- [47] Tilly, G. P., "Strain and Rupture Behavior Under High Stress Reversals", Journal of Strain Analysis, Vol. 2, 1967, pp. 220-225.
- [48] Timo, D. P. and Sarney, G. W., "The Operation of Large Steam Turbines to Limit Cyclic Thermal Cracking", American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Paper 67-WA/PWR-4, Nov. 1967.
- [49] Timo, D. P., "Designing Turbine Components for Low-Cycle Fatigue", International Conference on Thermal Stressing and Thermal Fatigue, Berkeley, England, Sept. 1969. Also General Electric Company, Report DF 69-LS57.
- [50] Timo, D. P., "Typical Fatigue Problems and Fixes in Large Steam Turbines", American Society for Metals, Conference on the Fatigue Problem, Boston, Massachusetts, July 1970.
- [51] Unksov, E. P., et al, "Thermal Stresses and the Strength of Power Plant Components under Cyclic Loading", International Conference on Thermal Stresses and Thermal Fatigue, Berkeley, England, 1969. To be published in 1970.
- [52] Walker, C. D., "Strain-Fatigue Properties of Some Steels at 950°F (510°C) with a Hold in the Tension Part of the Cycle", Joint International

Conference on Creep, 1963, Papers, The Institution of Mechanical Engineers, 1963, pp. 3-49 to 3-56.

- [53] Wellinger, K., Schoch, W., and Kraegeloh, E., "The Influence of Thermal Stresses on the Design of Boiler Drums", *International Conference on Thermal Stresses and Thermal Fatigue*, Berkeley, England, 1969. To be published in 1970.
- [54] Wells, C. H. and Sullivan, C. P., "Interactions between Creep and Low-Cycle Fatigue in Udimet 700 at 1400 F", *Fatigue at High Temperature*, *ASTM STP 459*, American Society for Testing and Materials, 1969, pp. 59-74.
- [55] White, D. J., "Effect of Environment and Hold Time on the High Strain Fatigue Endurance of 1/2 Percent Molybdenum Steel", *Proceedings*, The Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 184, 1969/70, Part 1, pp. 223-240.

- [56] White, D. J., "Some Contributions to British Work on Thermal and High Strain Fatigue", International Conference on Thermal Stresses and Thermal Fatigue, Berkeley, England, 1969. To be published in 1970.
- [57] Wood, D. S., "The Effect of Creep on the High Strain Fatigue Behavior of a Pressure Vessel Steel", Welding Journal, Vol. 45, 1966, Welding Research Supplement, pp. 92-s to 96-s.
- [58] Wundt, B. M., Bibliography on Low-Cycle Fatigue, ASTM STP 449, American Society for Testing and Materials, 1968.
- [59] Zlepko, V. F., "The Operational Reliability of Boiler Tubes in Large Steam Generators", International Conference on Thermal Stresses and Thermal Fatigue, Berkeley, England, 1969. To be published in 1970.